#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

In the matter of:

JAY KVAM,

Appellant,

VS.

BRIAN MINEAU; and LEGION INVESTMENTS, LLC,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Jun 13 2022 12:08 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

**Supreme Court Case No. 84443** 

District Court Case No. CV18-00764

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

MATUSKA LAW OFFICES, LTD.
Michael L. Matuska (SBN 5711)
2310 S. Carson Street, #6
Carson City, Nevada 89701
(775) 350-7220 (T) / (775) 350-7222 (F)

Attorney for Appellant JAY KVAM

#### **RULE 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from two orders granting partial summary judgment. The orders are appealable under NRAP 3A(b)(1).

Dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal are as follows:

Notice of entry of the June 5, 2020 order granting partial summary judgment was served on all ECF filers on June 5, 2020. [14 JA 1993].

Notice of entry of the March 10, 2022 order granting partial summary judgment on the remaining causes of action was served on all ECF filers on March 11, 2022 [14 JA 2157].

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal may be assigned to the Court of Appeals because it does not involve any of the issues that shall be decided and heard by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether Judge Simons committed multiple errors of law and abused her discretion by granting partial summary judgment in favor of Mineau/Legion based on DA (deemed admitted) findings of fact and a sham declaration, and by failing to first rule on underlying discovery motions;
  - 2. Whether genuine issues of fact remain for trial.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case concerns a failed real estate investment whereby the parties agreed to purchase, renovate and resell a house located at 7747 S. May Street, Chicago, Illinois, essentially, a "flip" project. Appellant Jay Kvam is the plaintiff in the district court. Respondents Brian Mineau and Legion Investments, LLC (hereafter, "Mineau/Legion") are the defendants. Mineau is the sole member/manager of Legion.

On January 6, 2020, Mineau/Legion filed a *Motion for Summary Judgment* in which they requested summary judgment on all of the causes of action alleged in Kvam's SAC. [7 JA 1003]. Their motion was supported by a sham declaration from Brian Mineau [7 JA 1033]. Par. 25 of Mineau's declaration added new facts after the close of discovery, contradicted and disavowed his previous sworn declaration and discovery responses, was not credible on its face, and was not supported by the extensive record. In contrast, Kvam provided a detailed opposition that was supported by 48 exhibits including his detailed declaration and a report and declaration from his expert witness C.P.A. [10 JA 1251]. Kvam also explained in his opposition that in order to more fully respond to Mineau/Legion's *Motion for Summary Judgment*, he needed discovery that was addressed in the Discovery Commissioner's January 10, 2020 *Recommendation for Order*. [9 JA 1226].

Kvam also filed a motion requesting reconsideration of a prior discovery order

and sanctions relating to the new, fraudulent material asserted in Par. 25 of Mineau's declaration. [See Motion for Reconsideration of Order Affirming Discovery Commissioner's Recommendation, Entered May 16, 2019, For Discovery Sanctions; and For Other Relief, 12 JA 1518].

On June 5, 2020, Judge Simons entered the *Order Granting, in Part, and Denying, in Part, Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment; Order Granting Summary Judgment on Claim Pursuant to Court's NRCP 56 Notice* ("Order #1") [14 JA 1948]. Essentially, in Order #1, Judge Simons granted Mineau/Legion's motion for summary judgment on Kvam's causes of action for monetary damages, leaving only Kvam's causes of action for declaration of joint venture, dissolution and winding up and accounting. In addition, Judge Simons *sua sponte* granted summary judgment in favor of Mineau/Legion on a counterclaim that was not pending.

Judge Simons largely ignored Kvam's declaration and evidence. Some of her findings of fact are not supported by any evidence to the record, and many of her findings of fact are supported only by a reference to "DA", which she explains means that the bare, conclusory allegations in Mineau/Legion's counterclaims are deemed admitted, even though most of the counterclaims had been dismissed, the pleadings had long since been superseded and no counterclaims were pending. Judge Simons did not address the Discovery Commissioner's *Recommendation for Order* or

Kvam's *Motion for Reconsideration* regarding discovery needed to address Mineau's sham declaration.

Kvam appealed Order #1 pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3) on June 29, 2020. [14 JA 2043]. Order #1 was affirmed [14 JA 2046] and the case was remanded to District Court. On remand, Kvam moved for and was granted summary judgment on his remaining causes of action. [See Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, ("Order #2) 14 JA 2147]. Unfortunately, the relief granted in Order #2 was circumscribed and limited by Order #1, and Judge Simons did not fully address the pending discovery issues.

#### FACTUAL BACKGROUND

#### I. PRE-FILING HISTORY

The following facts are set forth in the Declaration of Jay Kvam in Support of Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment; and Cross-Motion for Partial Summary Judgment [10 JA 1290-98].

- 1. In late December, 2016, Michael Spinola contacted Jay Kvam about a house "flip" project Brian Mineau was starting at 7747 S. May Street, Chicago, Illinois (the "Property" or the "Project") [10 JA 1291 ¶2].
- 2. On December 30, 2016 or January 1, 2017, Mr. Spinola introduced Kvam to Mineau at a Starbucks in Reno, Nevada. At that meeting, Spinola and Mineau prepared on outline of the project financing. Spinola took a photo of that

outline which he later sent to Kvam's email on January 7, 2017 [10 JA 1291-92  $\P$ 2; 1301].

- 3. The discussions about the Project are encapsulated in the outline of project financing which indicates that the Project would cost \$44,000 for the purchase price and \$70,000 for repairs which would be repaid with interest at the rate of 7% per annum in (3) three months, which would be \$1,995 in interest. The outline of project financing also includes \$13,520 for escrow closing costs. Based on an estimated re-sale price of \$169,000, the Project would generate an estimated profit of \$39,485, which would be divided three (3) ways, \$13,161 each. [10 JA 1292 ¶4; 1303].
- 4. Kvam had never engaged in a flip project before. Mineau represented that he had such experience and that he had successfully and profitably completed flip projects in Chicago. Kvam relied on Mineau's experience and the outline of project financing [10 JA 1291-92 ¶3].
- 5. On January 2, 2017, Mineau copied Kvam on an email that included an unsigned bid from Triple "R" Construction for \$70,000. The bid stated: "THIS JOB WILL TAKE 3 MONTHS FROM START TO FINISH." [10 JA 1292 ¶5; 1307-10].
- 6. Mineau signed the purchase agreement for the Property on January 3, 2017 in the amount of \$44,000 [10 JA 1292 ¶6; 1312-15].

- 7. On February 13, 2017, Kvam wired \$44,000 to escrow for the purchase price and another \$784.31 for miscellaneous escrow fees and escrow closed that same day [10 JA 1292 ¶7; 1317-19; 1321-24].
- 8. Mineau acquired title to the Property in the name of his limited liability company, Legion Investments, LLC. [10 JA 1292 ¶7; 1326-30].
- 9. The next day, on February 14, 2017, Kvam signed a document entitled "Terms of Agreement" which provides in its entirety as follows:

Terms of Agreement between Legion Investments LLC (its Members) and Jay Kvam (Initial Funding Member of Same)
Re:

7747 May Street, Chicago, Illinois.

With Regards to acquisition of the aforementioned property, it is understood that the membership of Legion Investments LLC for this acquisition is Brian Mineau, Jay Kvam and Michael Spinola. All parties are entitled to 33.33% of net profit, after all expenses are accounted for, to include interest due on funds dispersed. Initial purchase is being funded by Kvam, who is there by assigned any remedies due should the transaction fail in anyway. Initial funder will be due a 7% annual return on any funds provided due from date of disbursement. There is expected to be 3 renovation draws necessary on this project. First draw to be funded by Mr. Kvam, Due to present and ongoing business dealings between Jay and Michael, Michael has agreed to allot %50 of his 1/3 profit for both initial funding's.

[10 JA 1293 ¶8; 1332].

Mineau and Spinola had previously signed the Terms of Agreement on February 13, 2017 [*Id.*].

- 10. On February 17, 2017, Kvam texted Mineau to ask for wiring details to forward the first payment to the contractor. Mineau responded "Not yet, he was getting the wiring info for a separate account so he could keep May Street funds separate from other projects." [10 JA 1293 ¶9; 1334].
- 11. Mineau contacted a different contactor, TNT Complete Facility Care, Inc. ["TNT"] after March 16, 2017 [10 JA 1293 ¶9; 1336]. Mineau prepared the Contractor Agreement with TNT [10 JA 1293 ¶9; 1338] and signed the agreement on March 20, 2017 [7 JA 1054-67; 10 JA 1293 ¶11; 1340].
- 12. The Contractor Agreement provides that the project will be "turn key" complete by June 1, 2017 at a total cost of \$80,000 [See Addendum "A" to Contractor Agreement, 7 JA 1065; 10 JA 1293 ¶10]. Addendum A specifies the payment schedule, including:

\$20,000 to secure permits, architects, demo; \$15,000 to begin reconstruction April 17<sup>th</sup> 2017 \$15,000 due April 27<sup>th</sup> 2017 \$13,000 due May 8<sup>th</sup> 2017 \$9,000 due May 18<sup>th</sup> 2017 Final payment of \$8,000 due upon punch list completion.

The Contractor Agreement also specifies that "The Owner [Legion/Mineau, ed.] will approve the percentage of work at its sole discretion" [See Addendum "B" 7 JA 1067] and "IN ORDER TO RECEIVE PAYMENT, CONTRACTOR MUST PROVIDE INVOICES . . ." [7 JA 1054-55, ¶4].

13. Mineau never gave Kvam a copy of the Contractor Agreement, so

Kvam did not know the payment schedule or amounts, and relied on Mineau. Mineau never obtained invoices from TNT, never verified that work was progressing, and instructed Kvam to make the payments without regard to the progress of construction. Kvam first obtained the Contractor Agreement through the discovery process in this lawsuit [10 JA 1293-94 ¶11].

- 14. On March 23, 2017, Mineau texted that "... we are ready for our first draw on May street 20k. I will email the wiring instructions to you jay and if you have time to get it out some time in the next day or two, I would appreciate it." [10 JA 1294 ¶12; 1343]. Later that morning, Mineau emailed Kvam with wire instructions as an attachment [10 JA 1345-46]. Kvam wired \$20,000 to TNT that same day [10 JA 1294 ¶12; 1348-49].
- 15. On April 13, 2017, Mineau texted that "I spoke with Derek last night and this morning and next Tuesday or Wednesday is good for the next draw if that works for you. He said Easter pushed a few inspections back but we will be done no later than the 16<sup>th</sup> of May." [10 JA 1294 ¶13; 1351]. In reliance on that text message, Kvam sent another \$20,000 on April 14, 2017 [10 JA 1352-54].
  - 16. Kvam wired another \$9,000 on May 18, 2017 [10 JA 1294 ¶14; 1356].
- 17. Kvam began to ask questions of Mineau on about May 21, 2017: "Have you heard from Derek recently about May Street? How's it progressing in these, as I've heard, last couple weeks of renovation?" Mineau replied: "I did actually he

called me about an hour and a half ago and told me he is installing floors this week and should be finished very soon." [10 JA 1294 ¶14; 1358].

- 18. Although Mineau was able to procure the property for \$44,000 as planned, most of the other representations he made to Kvam have proven to be false. For instance, Kvam first discovered on July 12, 2017 that Mineau's budget for construction costs had increased from \$70,000 to \$80,000 only when a third-party, Bradley Tammen, forwarded a copy of an email from Mineau soliciting funds. [10 JA 1294 ¶15; 1362-63].
- 19. Also, Mineau never informed Kvam that he did not have his share of funding. Kvam would not have proceeded with this Project had he known that Mineau needed to borrow his share of funding as he now claims in his sham Declaration [10 JA 1295 ¶16].
- 20. During this litigation, Kvam began researching the permit history for the Property through the Cook County, Illinois public records. The summary report was provided as Exhibit "23" with Mineau's *Motion for Summary Judgment* [8 JA 1187-89]. The inspection history confirms that there were no inspections at the time of the second draw on April 14, 2017, and the floors were not ready to install at the time of the third draw on May 18, 2017. In fact, there was no progress beyond demolition (which should have been covered by the first draw), and the Project could not have been on track to be completed by the 16th of May. In fact, the first permit

that was issued on April 21, 2017 was for "Removal of Drywall Only." The permit for "Interior Alteration of a Single Family Residence, Architectural, Mechanical, Plumbing and Electrical Involved" was not issued until June 14, 2017 [10 JA 1295 ¶17; 8 JA 1188-89].

- 21. Before filing suit, Kvam sent a letter to Mineau asking for his money back and included some proposals [12 JA 1616].
- 22. Kvam then had his attorney send a letter to Mineau on February 16, 2018 which explained that "Unless you consider Mr. Kvam to be a member of Legion Investments, LLC, that agreement is best described as a combination loan agreement and joint venture agreement, with Mr. Kvam a lender and joint venturer, and you as the project manager and managing member of Legion Investments, LLC." [12 JA 1620].
- 23. Mineau/Legion's attorney responded "Mr. Mineau, Mr. Spinola, and Legion have complied with the terms of the Agreement and intend to continue doing so. The terms of the Agreement do not entitle Mr. Kvam to be 'reimbursed' or bought out on demand." [12 JA 1624].
- 24. Mineau/Legion's attorney later wrote that "No aspect of NRS Chapter 87 applies to this dispute." [12 JA 1638].

#### II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

#### A. THE PLEADINGS

- 25. Kvam eventually filed suit in the court below on April 11, 2018 [1 JA 1]. The Complaint included causes of action as follows: Declaration of Joint Venture; Rescission or Reformation of Agreement; Breach of Contract Loan; Breach of Contract and Tortious Breach of Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing Joint Venture Agreement; Accounting; Court Supervision of Dissolution and Winding Up; Appointment of Receiver; Temporary and Permanent Injunction; Derivative Claim (on behalf of the unincorporated joint venture referred to as 7747 S. May Street).
  - 26. The case was assigned to Dept. 3, Hon. Jerome Polaha [1 JA 24].
- 27. Mineau/Legion filed an *Answer and Counterclaim* on June 5, 2018 in which they denied the characterization of the Project as a joint venture that is governed by NRS Chapter 87 and asserted 11 counterclaims [1 JA 10].
- 28. Kvam filed a *Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim, or Alternatively, for a More Definite Statement* on June 25, 2018 [1 JA 24]. Judge Polaha dismissed some of the counterclaims and ordered a more definite statement regarding some of the counterclaims [1 JA 107, 112].
- 29. Mineau/Legion filed a document entitled *First Amended Counterclaim* on October 5, 2018 [2 JA 114]. Kvam filed a *Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim and*

for Summary Judgment on October 25, 2018 [2 JA 128]. On January 9, 2019, Judge Polaha dismissed all of Mineau/Legion's remaining counterclaims except for their third counterclaim for declaratory relief [2 JA 313, 329].

- 30. Mineau sold the Property at a loss with the interior demolished to Thousand Oaks Management, LLC for \$41,000 on November 16, 2018 [10 JA 1296 ¶26; 11 JA 1407-09]. The sale generated net proceeds in the amount of \$24,473.77 [*Id.*].
- 31. Kvam was left to find out about the sale on his own and moved for a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction on November 30, 2018 to prevent the loss of the sale proceeds [10 JA 1296-97 ¶26; 2 JA 214]. The Temporary Restraining Order was entered on December 3, 2018 [3 JA 251]. Facing no other option, Mineau/Legion stipulated to deposit the proceeds of sale with the clerk of the court [10 JA 1296-97 ¶26; 3 JA 256].
- 32. At a subsequent hearing on February 11, 2020, Mineau/Legion's counsel acknowledged that Legion had received a refund from escrow in the amount of \$1,864.14 after the temporary restraining order and after the sale proceeds had been deposited with the clerk of the court. [See Transcript, 15 JA 2281 at 19:10-12]. This refund has not been deposited with the clerk of the court.
- 33. On December 24, 2018, Kvam filed a *Motion for Leave to file Amended Complaint* to add claims of fraud and breach of contract against Mineau due to his

failure to fund the Project and to make other changes to the complaint to reflect the recent sale of the Property [3 JA 273]. Judge Polaha granted that motion on January 29, 2019 [3 JA 376] and Kvam filed his *First Amended Complaint* ("FAC") on January 31, 2019 [3 JA 379].

- 34. The answer filed by Mineau/Legion on February 19, 2019 did not contain any counterclaims [3 JA 390].
- 35. The case was reassigned to Dept. 6, Hon. Lynne K. Simons, on June 6, 2019 [4 JA 602].
- 36. On June 19, 2019, Kvam filed a *Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint* [4 JA 620]. As explained in that motion:

Through extensive discovery conducted to date, there is no evidence that Kvam's money was used to improve the Property. Based on the sale for a loss, photographs which indicate that the property was in worse shape, and newly discovered evidence that Mineau, Legion and their cohorts and colleagues were working on other projects at the same time, some of which were sold for a profit, Kvam now seeks to file the Second Amended Complaint to include causes of action for conversion/diversion of funds and RICO violations.

[4 JA 622:1-6].

Judge Simons granted Kvam's motion for leave to amend [5 JA 750] and Kvam filed his *Second Amended Complaint* ("SAC") on September 11, 2019 [5 JA 756].

37. The Answer filed by Mineau/Legion on September 25, 2019 did not contain any counterclaims [5 JA 769].

#### B. KVAM'S SECOND MOTION TO COMPEL

- 38. Kvam was forced to file a *Second Motion to Compel* when Mineau/Legion resisted discovery concerning the commingling of project funds and likely diversion of funds to Mineau's other projects in Chicago. [6 JA 774].
- 39. Kvam's *Second Motion to Compel* was still pending when Mineau/Legion filed their *Motion for Summary Judgment* on January 6, 2020 on all causes of action alleged in Kvam's SAC [7 JA 1003].

## C. <u>MINEAU/LEGION'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY</u> JUDGMENT

- 40. Mineau/Legion submitted 32 exhibits with their January 6, 2020 *Motion for Summary Judgment*, including a declaration from Brian Mineau.
- 41. In their *Motion for Summary Judgment*, Mineau/Legion altered their previous position and conceded that the Project should be characterized as a joint venture that is governed by NRS Chapter 87 as alleged in Kvam's First Cause of Action (Declaration of Joint Venture) [7 JA 1013-14].
- 42. The Discovery Commissioner, Wesley Ayers, filed his Recommendation for Order on January 10, 2020, which recommended granting in large part Kvam's Second Motion to Compel and awarding attorney's fees against Mineau/Legion in the amount of \$2,500. [9 JA 1226, 1236]
- 43. Kvam filed his Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment; and Cross-Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Opposition") on

January 16, 2020 [10 JA 1251].<sup>1</sup> Kvam included detailed points and authorities on every cause of action and an extensive statement of facts which was supported by 48 exhibits including declarations from Jay Kvam and Benjamin Charles Steele, CPA.

44. Kvam considers Mineau's declaration to be a sham. He objected to Mineau's declaration at length [10 JA 1263-1264] and further addressed Mineau's perjured declaration in his *Motion for Reconsideration*, discussed below. [12 JA 1518].

#### D. REPORT OF BENJAMIN CHARLES STEELE, CPA

The following facts are set forth in the Declaration of Kvam's expert witness, Benjamin Charles Steele, C.P.A., which was submitted as Exhibit 40 with Kvam's *Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment*, and his report and amended report which were submitted as Exhibits 41 and 42. [11 JA 1429-1444].

45. Mr. Steele reviewed TNT's bank records and was able to confirm that TNT was working on other projects for Mineau/Legion at the same time including 8744 Bishop, 8754 S. Michigan, 9919 Forest and 1404 and 1408 Wyoming [11 JA 1443]. The funding for these other projects went into the same bank account xxx1855 and was therefore commingled with Kvam's funding for 7747 S. May Street [*Id.*]. From there Mr. Steele reported as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Kvam's detailed Opposition occupies the entirety of Appendix vols. 10 and 11.

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