IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JAY KVAM,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jul 27 2022 09:53 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

BRIAN MINEAU; AND LEGION INVESTMENTS, LLC,

Supreme Court Case No. 84443

District Case No. CV18-00764

Respondents	٠.
-------------	----

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, In and for the County of Washoe The Honorable Lynne Simons, District Judge

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Austin K. Sweet, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 11725 Mark H. Gunderson, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 2134 3895 Warren Way Reno, Nevada 89509 (775) 829-1222

Attorneys for Respondents Brian Mineau and Legion Investments, LLC

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

Furthermore, NRCP 15 requires leave to amend a pleading, including a counterclaim or an answer to a counterclaim. Requiring counterclaims (and answers to those counterclaims) to be re-filed manifests a risk that the re-filed pleadings will not be identical to the originals. An innocent mistake could create confusion concerning which version of the counterclaim (or answer to the counterclaim) is properly pending. Worse, an unscrupulous party might take advantage of this opportunity to modify its counterclaim (or answer to the counterclaim) without leave in violation of Rule 15. Either way, forcing parties to re-file pleadings that should not have been modified will require careful review and scrutiny by all to ensure that the re-filed pleadings are identical to the originals. Again, these concerns would easily be avoided by not requiring a party to re-file counterclaims (and answers to those counterclaims) when answering an amended complaint.

In his *Opening Brief*, Kvam cites a differing line of cases which held that failing to re-plead counterclaims in response to an amended complaint amounts to a

voluntary dismissal of those counterclaims. AOB pp. 23 – 24. However, this logic violates Rule 41 and creates and incredibly unclear record. A counterclaim may only be voluntarily dismissed by the claimant before a responsive pleading is served or upon a court order. NRCP 41(c)(1). Allowing a counterclaimant to voluntarily dismiss a counterclaim by simply not re-pleading it in response to an amended complaint circumvents Rule 41. Such an outcome also creates an incredibly unclear record and vast uncertainty as to when final judgment is entered in a case: if counterclaims can "simply vanish[] from the currently operative pleadings" [AOB p. 24 quoting Doe v. Williston Northampton Sch., 766 F.Supp.2d. 310, 313-14 (D. Mass. 2011)], then no clear record of their disposition will ever exist. This Court should not adopt such a policy in Nevada.

Finally, Kvam argues that the equities favor a determination that Legion and Mineau abandoned their counterclaims because, "the record in this case contains no reference to Mineau/Legion's counterclaims following Judge Polaha's January 1, 2019 *Order* until Judge Simons *sua sponte* resuscitated the counterclaim for declaratory relief five (5) days before trial at the hearing on Thursday, February 27, 2020." AOB p. 25. Kvam goes on to state, "By all accounts, as explained above, all parties believed that no counterclaims were pending." AOB p. 26. On the contrary, the record plainly shows that Kvam knew and understood that Legion and Mineau were maintaining their FACC throughout this case. At the final pretrial conference

on January 14, 2020, Kvam's attorney expressly acknowledged that Legion and Mineau maintained a counterclaim for declaratory relief, expressly described to the court the relief sought by Legion and Mineau through that counterclaim, and gave no indication that he believed the FACC had been abandoned or superseded. 13 JA 1768-1769. Thus, Kvam was plainly aware that Legion and Mineau's FACC was pending, knew what Legion and Mineau sought through their counterclaim, and knew that Legion and Mineau intended to maintain that counterclaim. Kvam's assertion that he was somehow prejudiced by Legion and Mineau's failure to replead their counterclaim in response to Kvam's first and second amended complaint is simply belied by the record.

Nevada law does not, and should not, require a defendant to re-plead a counterclaim in response to an amended complaint. Legion and Mineau's FACC was properly pending before the district court. Kvam did not answer the FACC, so the district court properly deemed the undenied allegations of the FACC admitted pursuant to NRCP 8(6)(b). The district court did not commit any error in this regard.

Even if this Court assigns any error to the district court's adoption of "deemed admitted" facts (which it did not), such error was harmless and does not warrant reversing Order #1. NRCP 61. Of the seventy-four (74) Undisputed Material Facts identified in Order #1, only seven (7) of them were "deemed admitted" with no other undisputed evidence. 14 JA 1963-71, ¶¶ 8, 11, 12, 13, 19, 65, and 72. Of these,

Kvam only specifically objects to four (4), each of which is addressed specifically in Section IV(D) below. None of these "deemed admitted" facts were essential to any of the conclusions in Order #1 and even if each of these facts was disregarded from Order #1, Kvam's substantial rights would not change. Therefore, the district court did not commit reversible error in this regard.

The district court's Order #1 should be affirmed.

B. The District Court Did Not Commit Reversible Error By Issuing Order #1 Before Addressing Kvam's Motion For Reconsideration.

Kvam next argues that the district court abused its discretion by granting Legion and Mineau's Motion for Summary Judgment without first addressing Kvam's Motion for Reconsideration. The district court properly exercised its discretion in this regard.

The discovery Kvam sought in his Motion for Reconsideration is entirely irrelevant to the case and to the district court's Order #1. One of the bases of Kvam's claims in this action is that each of the three partners (Kvam, Michael Spinola, and Legion / Mineau) was supposed to fund a payment to the contractor for the renovation,² but that Legion / Mineau failed to do so. 5 JA 758 ¶¶ 8(b) & 15.

- 24 -

² Kvam never provided any evidence of this alleged arrangement and it is disputed by Legion and Mineau. However, whether or not Legion / Mineau were

However, as Mineau repeatedly testified, he made Legion's renovation draw by causing Criterion NV LLC to wire \$20,000.00 to the contractor. 3 JA 337; 7 JA 1036-37; 12 JA 1536; 12 JA 1544-45. Kvam never presented any evidence to refute that this payment was made or that it was made on Mineau's behalf. Nonetheless, Kvam repeatedly demanded independent proof of Criterion NV LLC's arrangement with Legion and further details establishing the underlying source of the funds used to make this payment. Legion and Mineau have maintained throughout this litigation that such information is completely irrelevant: what matters is *that* the payment was made, not *where Mineau obtained the money from which* the payment was made.

Despite the irrelevance of this issue, and in an effort to avoid incurring substantial litigation and discovery costs related to this issue, Mineau executed a declaration wherein he explained that the \$20,000.00 had come from his personal safe at home and that, because Mineau was out of town when the contractor requested payment, he recalled that Mr. Spinola retrieved the cash from Mineau's house and wired it to the contractor through Mr. Spinola's bank. 12 JA 1544-45. When subsequently preparing the Motion for Summary Judgment and for trial,

_

contractually obligated to fund a renovation draw is not material because Legion / Mineau *did* fund a renovation draw.

Mineau realized that his previous recollection was mistaken. 7 JA 1036-37. Although Mr. Spinola did agree to arrange the payment while Mineau was out of town, the funds did not come from Mineau's personal safe, but were borrowed from Bradley Tammen. <u>Id.</u> Despite the irrelevance of the source of the funds, Mineau unilaterally acknowledged and voluntarily corrected his mistake. <u>Id.</u>

In its Order #1, the district court made no findings of fact or conclusions of law whatsoever concerning the underlying source of these funds. Thus, the underlying source of these funds is not material to the issues or the result in Order #1. Simply put, whether Legion wired the funds directly from its own account, used cash from Mineau's personal safe, borrowed the money, or procured the funds through any other source is completely irrelevant to the merits of this dispute or the orders on appeal.

Importantly, Mineau's mistaken testimony had nothing to do with Kvam's First Motion to Compel (to which Kvam sought reconsideration) and did not cause Kvam any prejudice. Mineau's original mistaken testimony was attached to Legion and Mineau's *Reply in Support of Motion for Protective Order* [12 JA 1544-45], which had no bearing on Kvam's First Motion to Compel [3 JA 395] or Commissioner Ayers' recommendation that Kvam's First Motion to Compel be denied [4 JA 528]. Thus, Mineau's corrected testimony in this regard could not possibly form a basis for the district court to reconsider the order denying Kvam's

First Motion to Compel, and the district court could not possibly have committed reversible error by issuing Order #1 before deciding Kvam's Motion for Reconsideration.

Furthermore, Kvam claims that Legion and Mineau's tax schedules are "the only other possible source of information" concerning Mineau's loan from Bradley Tammen [AOB p. 33], but the record establishes that Kvam knew all along that Mineau had borrowed this money from Bradley Tammen. See 12 JA 1564 (establishing that Bradley Tammen told Kvam on November 15, 2017 - six months before the lawsuit was filed - that he had loaned Mineau \$20,000.00 for this project). Nonetheless, Kvam never deposed Mineau, never deposed Mr. Spinola, never deposed Mr. Tammen, and never propounded written discovery specific to this issue. Thus, Kvam seemingly understood the insignificance of this issue, did not materially rely on Mineau's initial mistaken testimony, and was not unfairly prejudiced by the fact that Mineau later corrected that testimony.

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, every district court has the authority to control its own docket. See Maheu v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 89 Nev. 214, 217, 510 P.2d 627, 629 (1973) (recognizing the court's inherent power to "control the disposition of the causes on its docket with economy of time and effort for itself, for counsel, and for litigants"); see also Yong v. Immigration and Naturalization Service, 208 F.3d 1116, 1119 (9th Cir.2000) (holding that a court has the inherent

authority to control its own docket and calendar). The Motion for Summary Judgment was filed on January 6, 2020 [7 JA 1003] and the Motion for Reconsideration was filed January 24, 2020 [12 JA 1518]. Kvam's position that it was an abuse of discretion for the district court to hear and address the motions pending on its docket in the chronological order in which they were filed is unsupported by any argument or citation to authority and would completely strip the district court of its authority to control its own docket.

If Kvam felt that he could not present facts necessary to survive summary judgment absent the discovery sought in his Motion for Reconsideration, he was required to follow the process set forth in NRCP 56(d). Rule 56(d) relief "is appropriate only when the movant expresses how further discovery will lead to the creation of a genuine issue of material fact." Aviation Ventures, Inc. v. Joan Morris, Inc., 121 Nev. 113, 118, 110 P.3d 59, 62 (2005); see also Bakerink v. Orthopaedic Associates, Ltd., 94 Nev. 428, 431, 581 P.2d 9, 11 (1978). In opposing the Motion for Summary Judgment, Kvam asked the district court to defer ruling on his Ninth Cause of Action (Conversion) only and made no attempt to identify in his affidavit what facts might be obtained through the Motion for Reconsideration that were essential to justify his opposition. 10 JA 1281. Kvam therefore failed to make a proper showing under NRCP 56(d) and the district court did not abuse its discretion by entering partial summary judgment before ruling on the other motions. Further,

even if this Court determines that Kvam should have been afforded NRCP 56(d) relief, such relief could only support reversing Order #1 with respect to Kvam's Ninth Cause of Action (Conversion).

Mineau's corrected testimony simply had no impact on Kvam's ability to oppose summary judgment or the district court's decision, and absolutely nothing would have changed if the district court had addressed Kvam's Motion for Reconsideration before entering Order #1. Order #1 should be affirmed.

C. The District Court Did Not Commit Reversible Error By Issuing Order #1 Before Addressing Kvam's Second Motion To Compel.

Kvam's *Opening Brief* next asserts that the district court committed reversible error by entering Order #1 before first addressing Commissioner Ayers' January 10, 2020 *Recommendation for Order* on Kvam's Second Motion to Compel. AOB pp. 34-36. The district court did not abuse its discretion in this regard.

Again, every district court has the authority to control its own docket. <u>See Maheu</u> and <u>Yong, supra.</u>"). The *Motion for Summary Judgment* was filed on January 6, 2020 [7 JA 1003] and the Recommendation for Order was filed January 10, 2020 [9 JA 1226]. Kvam's position that it was an abuse of discretion for the district court to hear and address the items pending on its docket in the chronological order in which they were filed is unsupported by any argument or citation to authority and would completely strip the district court of its authority to control its own docket.

Regardless, as discussed above, if Kvam felt that he could not present facts necessary to survive summary judgment absent the discovery sought in the pending motions, he was required to follow the process set forth in NRCP 56(d). Again, in opposing the *Motion for Summary Judgment*, Kvam asked the district court to defer ruling on his Ninth Cause of Action (Conversion) *only* and made no attempt to identify in his affidavit what facts might be obtained through the pending Second Motion to Compel that were essential to justify his opposition. 10 JA 1281. Kvam therefore failed to make a proper showing under NRCP 56(d) and the district court did not abuse its discretion by entering partial summary judgment before ruling on the other motions.

There is nothing in the record to support a finding that the district court committed any errors of law or abused its discretion in any way by addressing the motions pending before it in the order in which they were filed. Order #1 should be affirmed.

D. The District Court Did Not Make Any Erroneous Findings Of Fact.

Kvam's *Opening Brief* enumerates five (5) specific findings of fact in Order #1 which Kvam argues were erroneous. AOB pp. 36-40. None of these findings was erroneous and, even if any were, reversal of Order #1 is unwarranted.

This Court reviews the grant or denial of summary judgment de novo. 9352 Cranesbill Tr. v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 136 Nev. 76, 78, 459 P.3d 227, 229

(2020). "Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings and other evidence on file, viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact remains in dispute and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." <u>Id.</u> (citing Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005)). "A genuine issue of material fact exists if, based on the evidence presented, a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party." <u>Id.</u> (citing Butler v. Bayer, 123 Nev. 450, 457-58, 168 P.3d 1055, 1061 (2007)).

1. Finding of Fact # 8.

Kvam argues that the district court erroneously found that "Mr. Kvam drafted the Terms of Agreement." AOB p. 37. The record does not support a finding that the district court committed reversible error in this regard.

Kvam argues that he refuted this finding in his declaration, "wherein he explained that he merely signed the Terms of Agreement that was sent by Mr. Spinola." AOB p. 37. The record speaks for itself: Kvam testified that "on February 14, 2017, I signed a document entitled 'Terms of Agreement.' Mineau and Spinola previously signed the Terms of Agreement on February 13, 2017." 10 JA 1293. Kvam has not identified any evidence to suggest that the district court erred in making this finding of fact.

///

Regardless, even if this Court assigns any error to the district court's finding in this regard, such error was harmless and does not warrant reversing Order #1. NRCP 61. The district court did not rely upon or refer to Finding of Fact # 8 in any of its conclusions, nor did the district court draw any inferences against Kvam as the drafter of the contract. Accordingly, this fact was not material to Order #1, so any error in this regard does not affect Kvam's substantial rights and should be disregarded as harmless.

Whether Kvam drafted the Terms of Agreement is therefore not a genuine issue of material fact that warrants reversal of Order #1.

2. Finding of Fact # 12.

Kvam argues that the district court erroneously found that "All parties to the Terms of Agreement knew this was a high-risk investment." AOB pp. 37-38. The record does not support a finding that the district court committed reversible error in this regard. Again, the district court properly deemed this allegation admitted for the reasons explained above.

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